#### INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from orders no. 20503 and 20162 of the Florida Public Service Commission relating to the rates charged by Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company. Order no. 20503 disposed of motions for reconsideration of order no. 20162.

The Public Counsel is charged by section 350.0611, Florida Statutes (1987) to provide legal representation for the people of the state in proceedings before the Florida Public Service Commission. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Article V, section 3(b)(2), Florida Constitution, and sections 350.128(1) and 364.381, Florida Statutes (1987).

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, this brief is accompanied by an appendix which includes a copy of the orders to be reviewed. References to the appendix are signified as  $(A \_ )$ . References to other portions of the record are signified as  $(R \_ )$ , except that references to the transcript of hearing conducted July 18-21, 1988, are signified as  $(T \_ )$ .

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 13, **1988**, Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company simultaneously filed a "Petition for Rate Stabilization and Other Relief" (R 1) and a "Petition for Implementation Order and Other Relief" (A 56) with the Florida Public Service Commission. These petitions contained several proposals, two of which were (1) to reduce rates for various toll services over a three year period, and (2) to obtain permission to keep 50% of its earnings above a threshold return on equity of 15%. A later amendment to Southern Bell's petitions capped its requested return on equity at 16% (R 46).

A reduction in the corporate income tax rate and increased efficiencies associated with the provision of telecommunications services made these proposals possible (R 2). Additionally, given present economic conditions, Southern Bell believed it would be unable to retain the return on equity range of 14%-16% authorized in its last rate case (T 101). The Office of Public Counsel filed a petition on July 31, **1987**, seeking to reduce Southern Bell's authorized midpoint return on equity from 15% to 12.25%. Commission order no. **19117** issued April 6, **1988**, consolidated Public Counsel's petition with Southern Bell's two v petitions on April 6, **1988** (R 638).

The relief requested in the petitions was based in part on the principle that a price reduction leads customers to purchase more of a service. The petitions refer to this principle by the term "stimulation." Page 2 of the petition for implementation

order, for example, states that stimulation mitigates the amount of revenue Southern Bell would otherwise lose from its proposed price reductions for intraLATA (short haul) toll rates:

> "Southern Bell recommends that the Commission should reduce the Company's intraLATA message toll rates (MTS) by \$25 million in 1988, \$25 million in 1989, and \$30 million in 1990. The effects of stimulation would result in an annual net revenue reduction of approximately \$15 million in 1988, \$15 million in 1989 and \$18 million in 1990 to Southern Bell." (A **57).**

Similarly, the petition states that stimulation mitigates the amount of revenue Southern Bell would otherwise lose from its proposed price reductions for the services Southern Bell provides interexchange carriers:

> "Southern Bell further recommends that the Commission reduce its intrastate access charges by \$20 million in 1988, \$25 million in 1989 and \$30 million 1990. in These reductions, if passed directly on to our Southern Bell customers as an equivalent reduction in their intrastate, interLATA toll rates, would result after stimulation in an annual net revenue reduction of approximately \$15 million in 1988, \$18 million in 1989 and \$23 million in 1990 to Southern Bell." ( A 60).

The Commission's order on prehearing procedure issued April 20, 1988, set the case for hearing (R 739).

Southern Bell filed testimony on May 2, 1988, supporting its petitions. Walter S. Reid, an operations manager in the company's comptroller's division, provided testimony about the amount the company expected to earn during 1988, 1989, and 1990.

The company's forecast of earnings came from the company's budgeting process, a process which Mr. Reid described as "a sophisticated budget process which would be expected of a company that has to expend significant resources to meet strong customer demand in states such as Florida" (A 121; T 518). According to Mr. Reid, the two most accurate sources of information for determining the company's income during 1988, 1989, and 1990 are the company's budget and planning views (A 121-124; T 518-521).

The budgeting process starts with a detailed, ground-up forecast of customer demand and service requirements on a wirecenter-by-wire-center basis. At later points in the process, the ground-up view is tested against the top-down view for reasonableness. If there is a difference between the levels produced by the ground-up view and top-down view, an analysis of the facts and circumstances underlying the two forecasts determines the most reasonable forecast (A 121-124; T 518-521).

The forecasted levels of revenue contained in the company's commitment budget are not only the best estimate of Southern Bell's revenues for the next year, according to Southern Bell's witness Reid, but they also represent management's objectives and resource commitments to meet these objectives (A 122-123; T 519-520).

Southern Bell's planning views are longer range and more flexible for changes in plans. The data, Mr. Reid explained, still represents the company's best estimate of revenue and expenses for the forecasted period (A 123; T 520).

Reid's prefiled testimony made a distinction between the Mr. "gross" revenue and "net" revenue impact of the proposed price reductions (A125-127; T 522-524). The net impact accounted for stimulation and reflected the actual amount of revenue Southern Bell expected to receive after taking the price reductions into account (A 117-118, 125-127, 141-143; T 514-515, 522-524, 594-596). The net revenue figures are also the amounts used in Southern Bell's budgeting process (A 141; T 594). The "qross" revenue figure showed the effect on Southern Bell without accounting for the stimulation expected by Southern Bell (A 126-127; T 523-524). Southern Bell provided the "gross" revenue data only for information. The gross revenue data did not reflect Southern Bell's forecast of expected earnings (A126-127; T 523-524).

David B. Denton, an operations manager in the company's rates division, also prefiled testimony on May 2, 1988, explaining that Southern Bell expected the price reductions for toll services to stimulate toll usage of the switched network (A 145; T 831). He said that the company's budgeting and planning process used a forecast of stimulation to project revenues (A 141-143; T 594-596).

Additionally, in prefiled rebuttal testimony, Mr. Denton stated that stimulation observed in the interexchange toll market resulted in large part from previous price reductions for interexchange access services provided by local exchange companies (A 148; T 840). The filing of all testimony concluded

on May 27, 1988, pursuant to the order on prehearing procedure issued April 20, 1988 (R 739).

None of the twenty two parties participating in the case took issue with the forecasts of toll stimulation submitted and used by Southern Bell. Accordingly, the list of issues contained in the prehearing order (R 1831-1879) did not recognize Southern Bell's estimate of toll stimulation as a disputed issue of material fact. The matter of toll stimulation was **only** implicitly taken into account in an issue asking for the forecasted net operating income of Southern Bell during 1988, 1989, and 1990 (issue 10 -- R 1853-1854). No party's position expressed any misgivings about Southern Bell's forecast of toll stimulation (R 1853-1854).

In spite of this, the staff of the Commission suggested a different estimate for stimulation at hearings held July 18-21, 1988. On June 26, 1988 -- well after the last date for filing testimony -- the staff sent a letter to Southern Bell (A 180; T 1032) asking it to use **a** different estimate of toll stimulation for access charges, but not for other toll services. The letter also asked Southern Bell to assume that interexchange carriers would flow the access service price reduction through to customers statewide, not just to customers residing in Southern Bell's territory (A 159-163, 177-188; T 929-933, 1029-1040). The parties received Southern Bell's response to the staff's letter while the hearings were in progress.

Southern Bell's response to the letter (exhibit 14(b) -- A 224-225) employed a slightly lower price elasticity of demand for access prices than Southern Bell used in its budget and in its prefiled testimony. The term "price elasticity of demand" refers to the amount of stimulation resulting from a change in price. The company readily adopted this new estimate of stimulation. At the hearing, for example, Mr. Denton stated that he had determined "at least a couple days ago" that the new estimate suggested by the staff was more accurate than the estimate Southern Bell used in its budgeting process and in its prefiled testimony (A 158; T 982).

Southern Bell had used the following price elasticities of demand in its budgeting process: .57 for the access services provided to interexchange carriers, .40 for intraLATA message toll services, .094 for intraLATA WATS services, and .115 for intraLATA 800 service (A 169-173; T 978-982). In response to the staff's letter, Southern Bell changed the price elasticity of demand for the access services from .57 to .40, but left each of the other three price elasticities of demand unchanged (A 169-171; T 978-980).

The Citizens objected to the admission of exhibit 14(b) into evidence on the basis that no party had contested Southern Bell's estimate of stimulation either in prefiled testimony or in their prehearing statement. That objection was overruled (A 177-188; T 1029-1040).

During cross examination Mr. Denton testified that the price elasticities of demand used for the various toll services were estimates. With more competition now in the toll markets than there used to be, he claimed that it is more difficult to estimate the precise amount of stimulation (A 176, 202; T 1014, 1943). "You can be assured that any stimulation estimate is going to be wrong," he said (A 202-203; T 1943-1944). He also appeared to say that today's more competitive toll market would bring greater stimulation than realized in the past, although this portion of his testimony was ambiguous (A 208-217; T 1949-1958). He never suggested that reducing toll prices would not lead to stimulation.

The Commission's final order no. 20162 issued October 13, 1988, states that "we will set rates to produce a 13.2% return on equity" (A 13)1/. In doing so, the Commission accepted the accuracy of every estimate of revenue made by Southern Bell for 1988, 1989, and 1990, except for Southern Bell's forecast of toll

<sup>1/</sup>A staff witness recommended that Southern Bell be allowed a return on common equity of 12.5% for the purpose of determining revenue requirements (T 1695). Traditionally that is the earnings level used for rate setting purposes.

calling stimulation (A 42-43, 125). It completely accepted, for example, the accuracy of revenue forecasts for newly offered services expected to grow quickly (such as "ringmaster") and for firmly established services, such as operator and local exchange services (A 98-101). The Commission used zero stimulation for all toll services.

The Commission accepted the accuracy of every expense forecast, ranging from network operations and customer assistance expenses to marketing and general support expenses (A 30). The Commission did, however, "reserve" an additional amount of about \$165 million for future depreciation expense not reflected in Southern Bell's forecast of expenses. Rates were not reduced by this additional amount pending the filing and review of a depreciation study to be submitted by Southern Bell (A 28).

The Commission also accepted the accuracy of every projection of Southern Bell's asset accounts (A 14).

The order that accepted these revenue, expense, and asset projections of Southern Bell did not allow for the effects of stimulation incorporated in Southern Bell's petitions. The order only mentioned, without discussion, that the revenue projections for WATS and 800 services were "without stimulation" (A 18); it did not mention at all that the revenue projections for major services such as intraLATA MTS and interexchange carrier access charges excluded expected stimulation (A 16-20).

The Commission ordered revenue reductions of roughly \$73 million per year for intraLATA MTS toll calls and \$75 million per year for interexchange carrier access charges (A 47) -- when measured without accounting for the beneficial effect of stimulation. The corresponding price reduction for intraLATA MTS toll calls, for example, was about 27% (A 59).

The Citizens of Florida filed a motion for reconsideration of the Commission's order on October 28, 1988 (R 2665). The Citizens argued that the record would not support a finding of zero stirnulation from the toll price reductions ordered by the Commission. motion further stated that even if The the Commission used the evidence least favorable to the customers of Southern Bell -- the evidence of price elasticities obtained by the staff in response to its letter -- additional rate reductions about \$42 million per year would be required in order to set of rates producing a projected return on equity of 13.2% (R 2667-2671). Even though Southern Bell had recognized stimulation all it sided with the Commission when it learned along, the Commission would not require it to recognize stimulation (R 2759-2764).

Commission order no. 20503 issued December 22, 1988 (A 1) disposed of the motion for reconsideration without citing any evidentiary support for the Commission's finding of zero stimulation:

"Public Counsel argues that the reduction in access charges, message toll service (MTS) and WATS/800 service will result in stimulation,

or increased use of the services due to the lower prices. Public Counsel further posits that the increased usage makes the revenue reduction estimates stated in Order No. 20162 lower than they actually will be due to the absence of stimulation factored into those There was some evidence that some estimates. stimulation could occur were the various rates The existence of this evidence to be lowered. does not automatically mandate Commission acceptance of the evidence as the Public Counsel suggests. It is this Commission's prerogative to weigh the evidence that is We remain unpersuaded that the presented. stimulation levels indicated will occur with reliability. any degree of Our past experience with including stimulation in access charge reductions indicates that even Southern Bell cannot determine with any reliability the degree of stimulation that will occur. See Order No. 19677, Section IV, Paragraph C. pp. 20, 21. The access charge reduction and attendant MTS and WATS/800 reductions are a part of the total picture in this docket. We were aware of the stimulation argument in adopting the overall plan. We deliberately tilted the plan in favor of ratepayers to account for the prospective nature of the reductions in such ways as the split in the ratepayers' favor. This 60/40 would tend to offset any stimulation revenues that may or may not come to pass. The myriad of factors that can affect the stimulation such as overall economics conditions and rate of growth add to the uncertainty surrounding the stimulation. In the present case, if stimulation occurs and as a result, Southern Bell's earnings rise above 14% return on equity, customers will receive 60% of the benefit between 14%-16% and all benefits over 16%. Acceptance of Public Counsel's argument would factor in the stimulation and provide customers with all of the predicted benefits before they take place. The approach used in Order No. 20162 is more appropriate on these facts and the Motion for Reconsideration on this point is hereby denied.'' (A 2).

The Citizens of Florida filed a notice of administrative appeal on January 20, 1989.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

All evidence of record showed that a price reduction for toll services would lead to increased purchases of toll services. The Commission did not, and could not, point to evidence in the record to support its finding of zero stimulation. Instead, it referred to an order in another docket and referred to factors such as overall economic conditions which it presumed to know independent of record support.

No competent, substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's decision. The Court will not uphold an order of the Commission where the justification is found outside of the record. <u>General Development Utilities</u>, Inc., v. Hawkins</u>, 357 So,2d 408 (Fla. 1978). Likewise, reference to general economic conditions does not constitute competent, substantial evidence. <u>Broward County Traffic Association v. Mayo</u>, 340 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1977). The portions of the Commission's orders dealing with stimulation, projections of revenues, and rates should be quashed and remanded to the Commission for further proceedings.

## ARGUMENT

## NO COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COMMISSION'S FINDING OF ZERO STIMULATION

The Citizens do not ask the Court to reweigh conflicting evidence presented to the Florida Public Service Commission and then reach a different conclusion. Here <u>all</u> evidence showed that a price reduction for toll services would lead to increased purchases of toll services. Southern Bell itself provided this evidence, as did the Commission staff. In the face of price reductions of up to 27% for toll services, there is no competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the Commission's finding of zero stimulation.

The Commission's initial order contained no discussion about stimulation. It even failed to mention that the Commission disregarded stimulation when projecting revenues for major services such as intraLATA MTS and access charges (A 16-20). In its reconsideration order, the Commission still does not point to evidence in the record to support its order; instead, it refers to an order in another docket and "a myriad of factors... such as overall economic conditions..." (A 2). Decisions of the Florida Supreme Court find this sort of rationale inadequate.

The case of <u>General Development Utilities, Inc., v. Hawkins</u>, 357 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1978) is on point. The petitioners asked the Commission to approve rates based on a hypothetical capital structure. Instead of using its actual capital structure of

92.19% equity and 7.81% debt, the company proposed using a capital structure of 50% equity and 50% debt. The record contained the company's actual capital structure and its proposed capital structure, but the Commission chose instead to reach outside of the record and use a capital structure equal to the average capital structure of water companies generally.

The Court found "insurmountable difficulties" with the Commission's choice of capital structure. <u>General Development</u> <u>Utilities</u> at 409. It said that the Commission plainly violated the notions of agency due process embodied in the administrative procedure act. For example, the Commission's use of evidence found outside of the record breached (1) section 120.59(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1975), which directs an explanation of findings of fact by facts of record, (2) section 120.57(1)(b)7, which states that findings of fact are to be based exclusively on the evidence of record and on matters officially recognized<u>2</u>/, and (3) section 120.61, which contemplates notice of matters to be officially recognized and the opportunity to contest them.

2/Section 120.57(1)(b)7, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1975) is now section 120.57(1)(b)8, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1987).

The Commission's decision here contains the same deficiencies found in General Development Utilities, Inc. The Commission ignored the evidence provided by Southern Bell that price reductions for toll services would lead to greater purchases of toll services. Instead, the Commission looked to matters outside of the record: an order in another docket3/. No party had notice that the Commission might ignore stimulation. Indeed, there was no contest at all among the parties about the amount of stimulation until the staff introduced a different estimate at the hearing. No party ever proposed that the Commission find zero stimulation. The Commission's actions here violate the notions of agency due process embodied in the administrative just as they did in General Development procedures act, Utilities, Inc.

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