#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F		-	E	D
	SID	J. \	٧нп	E

APR 18 1989

THE CITIZENS OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellant,	, )
VS •	)
KATIE NICHOLS, etc., et a	al. )

Appellees.

CI ERK, SUPREME COURT

Case No. 73,623

On Appeal From The Florida Public Service Commission

# ANSWER BRIEF OF SOUTHERN BELL TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH COMPANY

OF COUNSEL:

J. ROBERT FITZGERALD
Vice President and General
Counsel
4300 Southern Bell Center
675 W. Peachtree Street NE
Atlanta, Georgia 30375

MAHONEY ADAMS MILAM SURFACE & GRIMSLEY, P.A.

William H. Adams, III David E. Otero 100 Laura Street Post Office Box 4099 Jacksonville, Florida 32201 (904) 354-1100

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants have set up a straw man that they can easily knock down with a simplistic argument. The straw man is Appellants' assertion that the Commission, ignoring undisputed evidence that lower rates will stimulate increased use of telephone service, found that "zero stimulation" would occur. Having distorted the Commission's orders into a finding of "zero stimulation," Appellants argue that there was no evidence to support it.

If, as Appellants say, the Commission's orders had really been based on a finding of zero stimulation, Appellants' legal argument would be powerful indeed. As Appellants demonstrate, the evidence that some stimulation will occur was undisputed. But, Appellants' major premise that the orders were based on a finding of zero stimulation is simply untrue. The Commission did not conclude that there would be no stimulation. It knew that usage would be stimulated, but it was "unpersuaded that the stimulation levels indicated will occur with any degree of reliability." [Order No. 20503. at 2] (emphasis added). The record clearly supports this finding. The only witness who testified on the stimulation issue made it clear that the estimates were unreliable.

Most importantly, under the regulatory policy adopted by the Commission and embodied in its orders, the level of stimulation was a relatively immaterial factor. Instead of trying to make a finding on the amount of stimulation, a finding which the only witness on the issue had said would inevitably be wrong, the

Commission created a rate structure that made accurate prediction of the level of stimulation unimportant. This was a policy choice that was well within its discretion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## Introduction

This case, like McDonald v. Department of Banking & Finance, 346 So.2d 569, 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), requires the Court "to reconcile the competing purposes of two statutes." Chapter 364, Florida Statutes (1987), confers on the Commission broad powers to approve the rates charged by telephone companies, and Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1987), places constraints on the manner in which the Commission may go about performing that task.

In Order No. 20162, the Commission described its obligations under Chapter 364 in the following words:

Section 364.03, Florida Statutes, requires that telephone company rates be "fair, just, reasonable and sufficient." The end result of reasonable rates also appears in Section **364.035** (1) and **364.14**, Florida Statutes. Florida Statutes do not dictate a means to achieve this end result. Section **364.035** provides that a telephone company must not be denied a "reasonable return" upon its rate base and Section 364.14 provides that the Commission shall allow a "fair and reasonable" return on its prudent investment used and useful in the public service. Section 364.055, F.S., also requires the Commission to set upper and lower limits upon the return on equity.

[Order No. 20162. at 28].

This Court has pointed out that "rate regulation is essentially one of legislative control. The fixing of rates is not a judicial function; hence our right to review the conclusion of the legislature or of an administrative body acting upon authority delegated by the legislature is limited." United Telephone v.

Mayo, 345 So.2d 648, 654 (Fla. 1977). Moreover, the Commission has considerable discretion in the ratemaking process. City of Miami v. Public Service Commission, 208 So.2d 249, 253 (Fla. 1968).

Appellants do not challenge the Commission's power under Chapter 364 to determine as a matter of rate-making policy how much weight, if any, should be given to stimulation. As a general proposition, that decision is well within the discretion delegated to the Commission by the legislature.

The issues raised by this appeal are created solely by the requirements of Chapter 120. Section 120.68 sets forth the standards the Court must follow in reviewing the Commission's decision. Although subsection 120.68(7) requires the court to deal separately with disputed issues of procedure, agency interpretations of law, determinations of fact or policy within the agency's exercise of delegated discretion, this case raises only two issues. One is an issue of fact-finding and the other an issue of policy. The two issues are:

- 1. Whether competent, substantial evidence supported the Commission's determination that the evidence on the levels of stimulation was unreliable; and
- 2. Whether the Commission properly exercised its discretion in fashioning a regulatory structure under which it was unnecessary to predict the level of stimulation.

I. THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION THAT THE PREDICTIONS OF STIMULATION LEVELS WERE UNRELIABLE WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Section 120.68(10) defines the function performed by a court in reviewing agency findings of fact:

(10) If the agency's action depends on any fact in a proceeding meeting the requirements of s. 120.57, the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on any disputed finding of fact. The court shall, however, set aside agency action or remand the case to the agency if it finds that the agency's action depends on any finding of fact that is not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record.

а

Appellants argue that the Commission improperly found that the rate reductions would produce zero stimulation in Southern Bell's revenues. As we have pointed out, however, the Commission did not find zero stimulation. It found only that Southern Bell's predictions of the <u>levels</u> of stimulation were unreliable. This means that if Appellants' contention is to have any meaning, it must be recast. The issue must be whether there was substantial competent evidence in the record to support the Commission's determination that Southern Bell's estimates of the amount of stimulation were unreliable.

Even If The Evidence On Stimulation Levels Had Not Contained Internal Conflicts, The Commission Would Have Been Entitled To Disregard It.

Appellants are correct in saying that Commission expertise is not a substitute for evidence in the record. The cases they have cited correctly hold that to support an affirmative finding there must be evidence in the record. In other words, if the Commission had found that a particular level of stimulation would occur, its finding might have been subject to challenge unless the record contained evidence to support it. However, that is not what happened here. Here, the Commission did not find a particular level of stimulation. It held merely that the evidence that had been offered on the level of stimulation was unreliable. Thus, the cases Appellants have cited are not in point. Another group of cases must be considered. They hold that a trier of fact may disbelieve unrebutted opinion evidence.

In <u>Behm v. Division of Administration</u>, State <u>Department of Transportation</u>, 292 So.2d 437 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), a condemning authority offered no evidence to rebut expert testimony offered by a property owner in an eminent domain case. The jury refused to believe the unrebutted testimony and the property owner appealed. After citing a host of cases, the court held that in arriving at its findings a trier of fact may reject opinion evidence even if it is unrebutted. <u>Id</u>. at 440-41; <u>see Cronin v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 802 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Behm and the cases it cites did not involve triers of fact having specialized expertise. Here the Commission does have that expertise. When the legislature has delegated fact finding authority to a regulatory agency with specialized expertise, there is even more reason to permit the agency to disbelieve evidence it finds unreliable.

# The Evidence On Predicted Levels Contained Internal Conflicts.

In this case, of course, the evidence was not conflicting in the usual sense in which one witness says one thing and another witness says the opposite. Here only one witness testified on the stimulation issue. He defended Southern Bell's estimates of stimulation, but when asked on cross examination about the methods used in arriving at the estimates and the difficulties of estimating stimulation levels, he agreed "that any stimulation estimate is going to be wrong." [T. at 1943-44] (emphasis added). With this evidence in the record, the Commission was entitled to use its prior experience to decide what evidence to accept on stimulation levels. Its finding was clearly supported by competent substantial evidence and may not be disturbed.

If the Court agrees that the Commission's finding was supported by competent substantial evidence, that should be the end of the matter. But that would not be the case if the Court should decide that the Commission's finding was unsupported. If the Court should find that the Commission had no justification for disbelieving the stimulation estimates, Section 120.68(10) requires it to take another step and consider whether Commission's orders "depended" on its rejection of the stimulation evidence. The issues underlying this question are intimately related to the policy determinations made by the Commission in its orders and will be discussed in the next section.

II. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN FASHIONING A REGULATORY STRUCTURE UNDER WHICH IT WAS RELATIVELY UNIMPORTANT TO PREDICT THE LEVEL OF STIMULATION.

Section 120.68 also defines the role to be performed by a court in reviewing an agency's exercise of discretion or policy:

- (12) The court shall remand the case to the agency if it finds the agency's exercise of discretion to be:
- (a) Outside the range of discretion delegated to the agency by law;
  - (b) Inconsistent with an agency rule;
- (c) Inconsistent with an officially stated agency policy or a prior agency practice, if deviation therefrom is not explained by the agency; or
- (d) Otherwise in violation of a constitutional or statutory provision; but the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency on an issue of discretion.

As Order No. 20503 made clear, the Commission did not take any specific estimate of stimulation into account when it issued Order No. 20162. Instead, the Commission elected to change the rate structure. Deciding whether to consider the specific estimates of stimulation in the new rate structure was clearly a policy determination which the Commission was empowered to make. As we have demonstrated, the legislature has given the Commission broad authority to determine the means to be used in regulating telephone rates. The primary substantive constraint on Commission power is that the rates fixed must be fair and reasonable. Appellants do not claim that the rates fixed by the Commission are substantively unfair. In view of the Commission's very broad

discretion, Appellants cannot complain (and have not complained) that the Commission violated any substantive provision of the Constitution or Chapter 364 in adopting the new sharing structure. Thus, their complaint can only be that the Commission improperly exercised its discretion; i.e., that it violated some procedural constraint in Chapter 120.

Turning to the procedural issue, it should be noted that the Appellants do not contend that the Commission's decision is inconsistent with any Commission rule or officially stated Commission policy. They do not argue specifically that the Commission's failure to calculate stimulation is inconsistent with prior agency policy or that it created new policy, but, for the sake of completeness, we should perhaps assume that this is their contention and refute it now.

In declining to estimate a specific level of stimulation and use it to increase Southern Bell's gross revenue figure, the Commission was acting consistently with Commission policy expressed in its previous decisions.

The Commission recognized the unreliability of predictions of stimulation in Docket No. 860984-TP, <u>In re: Investigation into NTS</u>

<u>Cost Recovery - Phase 11</u>, Order No. 19677, which it cited in Order No. 20162. In that proceeding the Commission discussed stimulation associated with access charge reductions and stated:

However, it appears there may be a potential technical and financial problem with determinins, whether there is any stimulation and further, the specific stimulation level.

• • Our experience with past access reduction supports this. Even though CCL rates were

reduced by 41.9% in 1987, neither Gulf nor Centel could identify any stimulation. Further, Southern Bell stated that "With our switched access demand models, we have not been able to determine the exact stimulative effect of the access charge reductions in 1987."

Order No. 19677 at p. 21 (emphasis added).

While the Commission directed local exchange carriers such as Southern Bell to consider stimulation in connection with future access reductions and provide an estimate of the stimulation level, the Commission also recognized "the difficulty involved in determining the precise amount of stimulation and acknowledge(d) that in some cases no stimulation results." Id. at p. 21.

Repression is the converse of stimulation. It occurs when prices are raised. Assuming all other factors such as consumer income and preferences remain the same, when the price of any product increases, the amount demanded is reduced. In previous cases involving rate increases, Southern Bell has asked the Commission to take repression into account. The Commission has always refused to do so, regarding predicted levels of repression as speculative and therefore not specifically allowable. In Docket No. 760842-TP, In re: Petition of Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company for Authority to Increase its Rates and Charges, Order No. 7926, Southern Bell, using a stimulation/repression model, asserted that proposed rate increases would have a depressing effect on revenues and that the Commission should give it a repression allowance. The Commission refused to do so, saying:

While the model appears to be statistically sound, its aggregate nature precludes its applicability to the design of rates for message toll service. For that reason, together with the Company's failure to consider the impact on revenue of other pertinent factors, the Commission concludes that the request for inclusion of a repression allowance should be denied. See also, Docket No. 840187(2)-TL, In re: Petition of General Telephone Company of Florida for an increase in its rates and charges, Order No. 13837.

Order No. 7926 at p. 37.

The Commission rejected the repression arguments Southern Bell advanced in Docket No. 820294-TP, Order No. 12221 (Southern Bell's 1982 rate case). On page 41 of its order in that case, the Commission refused to accept repression estimates concluding that:

Our revenue adjustments do not reflect the Company's repression data offered in this case because we do not believe the repression estimates offered are based on sound analytical models.

Contrary to his position here, Public Counsel has consistently opposed Southern Bell's requests for repression allowances. For example, in Docket No. 820294-TP (the 1982 rate case), Public Counsel's opposed such an allowance for the same reason the Commission gave for refusing to believe the stimulation evidence in this case. In opposing a repression allowance, he filed a brief arguing that:

Unless the repression/stimulation effects are determined in a reasonable manner, such effects should not be considered in revenue calculations and ratesetting.

Public Counsel's Brief, p. 122, May 23, 1983.

Even if the Commission's refusal to accept the predicted levels of stimulation had been a departure from previous Commission policy, nothing in Chapter 120 prevents an agency from changing its policy or creating a new one. The only procedural constraint on the ability of an agency to change a policy or create a new policy is that it may not adopt incipient policy without explaining its factual basis and reasoning. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 443 So.2d 92, 96 (Fla. 1983); McDonald, 346 So.2d at 582; see Gulf Coast Electric Cooperative v. Florida Public Service Commission, 462 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1985). And, obviously, the agency's explanation must be sufficient to make it clear that the incipient policy was not arbitrary or, stated another way, that it had a rational basis. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 443 So.2d 92, 96-97 (Fla. 1983).

In this case, the Commission fully explained its decision not to take any specific estimates of stimulation into account in fixing Southern Bell's rates. In Order No. 20162, the Commission took great pains to elucidate its reasons for adopting the new sharing structure embodied in the order, a rate structure that is not challenged on this appeal. It expressed general confidence that the new structure would give Southern Bell an incentive to invest more efficiently, to create innovative new products, and to provide better services at lower cost. Because of its concern about stimulation levels and its ability to distinguish

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